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THE CASTLE OF SERVIA. HISTORICAL DOCUMENTATION,
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION, PATHOLOGY, PROPOSED REPAIR WORKS

KLEOPATRA THEOLOGIDOU

Architect Restorer

I. INTRODUCTION

The castle of Servia is located in a magnificent area. Steep rocks, ravines, forests, the
Aliakmon river and the artificial lake of Polifiton, which is crossed probably by the longest
bridge in the Balkans area, are parts of the scenery. This is the area where the ruined castle
lies. A position of strategic importance from the ancient times, as it was one of the three
passages that connected Macedonia to Thessaly and one of the two passages that connected
the upper to the lower Macedonia. As a result, the area had a great growth, but it was also a
place of violent battles. The castle was built on a hill. Two extremely steep ravines were
protecting it and made the whole area impregnable.

The date of its erection is not exactly known. Archaeological evidence proves that the
area was inhabited from the ancient times. Many researchers position the erection of the
castle in the Justinian period (527-565), when the fortifications of the Roman Empire were
strengthened. The first written document about the castle is owed to Konstantinos
Porfirogenitos (905-959) in the 10th century, while another one is owed to Kekavmenos
(1 Ith century), who gave a detailed description of it and the surrounding area. The castle was
gradually abandoned until the end of the 17th or the beginning of the |8th century.

The study of the castle of Servia was the Greek participation in the European
Community Fortmed program. A methodology of a holistic approach was applied on this
study, so that a complete image of the castle and its problems is acquired and the most
appropriate proposals are designated for its repair and revitalization. This presentation is part
of this study and is briefly referred to:

|. The historical documentation of the castle

2. Its architectural description

3. Its building history

4. Information about the surrounding area and the modern town of Servia, so that its
potential for development is explored

5. The pathology of the constructions

6. Proposals for its repair

7. Some broad ideas about the possibilities for its development
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2. HISTORY IN BRIEF

The main events that stand out as landmarks in its history are presented to the
chronography that follows (table |). Among these events it is worth mentioning the repaqu{*
the castle by the emperor Romanos Lekapinos in the |0th century, its demolition by the
emperor Basil Il in 1018, its reconstruction in the | Ith century, its repair in 1257 by Michael
B', who offers it to the Kingdom of Nicae, events that are connected to its building history.
The houses were already extended outside the castle in the I4th century. The castle was
gradually abandoned in the |8th century, the same period that the area was declined.

6th century Castle’s foundation (?)

Emperor Justinian

(527-565)

Emperor Leon Vardas The castle was repaired (2)

(813-820)

10th century First written reference by

Emperor Konstantinos Porfirogenitos Konstantinos Porfirogenitos

(905-959)

Emperor Romanos Lekapinos. Second repair of the castle

(920-944)

995-1001 Bulgarian occupation (Samuel)

1001 Rejoined the Byzantine Empire

Emperor Basilios ||

(976-1025)

1018 Demolished by Emperor Basilios ||

| Ith century Reconstruction of the castle

1204 Occupied by the Francs crusades

1216 (Theodoros Doukas) Under the Despotate of Epirus

1257 Repaired by Michail B (1231-1271),
who offered it to the kingdom of Nicaea

1341 Occupied by the Serbians, under Stefanos Dousan

A few years later Conceded to the Byzantine Empire,
according to special treatment

End of 15th century Under Ottoman rule

1745 The headquarters of the bishopric,
which was in Servia from the 9th century,
was moved to Kozani

1912 Joined the Greek State

1941 Bombarded by the German troops

1943 Burned by the Italian troops

Table I: Chronography.
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3. ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

According to the preserved ruins and written evidence, the castle was divided into
three parts, the outer enclosure, the inner enclosure and the Acropolis (plan [).

The outer enclosure was the most populated area, where the civilians lived. It is here
that many churches are still preserved, such as the church of 5t. John the Baptist (l4th
century), the church of St. Theodore (1 Ith century) with a tiny aqueduct in its courtyard, the
Basilica of Catechized or St. Demetrius (|1th century) (figure |), which was probably the
cathedral, the ruins of some other churches, while traces of buildings are spread all over. At
the south side of this enclosure, the remnants of some buildings, probably handicrafts, a small
bath and a cistern were found. The entrance to the castle is preserved, very close to the
Basilica. It seems that this part of the castle was the religious and administrative center. The
outer enclosure is preserved in bad condition and many parts of it are completely

Plan I: The castle of Servia. Ground plan.
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figure I: Basilica of Catechized, or St
Demetrius (| 1th century),

figure 3: Acropolis.

demolished. As a result, its perimeter is not quite clear and therefore, archaeological research
is necessary for its revealing.

The military lived in the inner enclosure. This enclosure is better preserved (figure 2). Most
of its perimeter is visible and is saved at a relatively large height. It has a polygonal form and it
was the second line of defense and the shelter for the population, in case of capture of the outer
part, At the intermediate wall, two rectangular towers are distinguished, Though this part of the
castle is better preserved, traces of entrance have not been revealed so far. Only the traces of a
small secondary entrance on the southwest part are visible (figures 2, 4), which later on was
transformed to a window and even later was filled up. This entrance, very close to the Acropolis,
was on an unapproachable location, due to the strong inclination of the ground. The inner
enclosure was thinly inhabited. The ruins of buildings in this area are sparse. Traces of a cistern
are visible, which preserve hydraulic plaster on the internal facade of its masonry.

The Acropolis was the last line of defense (figure 3). There existed the house of the
sovereign and military buildings. Some remains of them are still visible. The Acropolis is the
better preserved part of the castle, Its perimeter is saved at a large height. It had a
quadrilateral form. Three towers are preserved at a large height. The two of them are
rectangular and very much alike (figures 12, 17, 18, 22, 23, 24), while the third one, at the
southwest corner, is polygonal and massive (figures 4, 19, 20). The rectangular towers were
three-storey buildings with timber floors and probably roofed with a flat timber terrace,
which was accessible, as battlements, partly preserved, indicate. Traces of the timber beams
are inscripted on the masonry (figures 23, 24). Narrow windows with brick arches existed on
the upper floors. These towers are the only structures of the fortification, where brick
decoration is observed (figure 5).

The castle has not been explored so far. However, detailed documentation on site
together with laboratory tests within the FORTMED program help to reach some first
observations czncerning the castle and its structure, for which further research and
confirmation are needed.

Though most of the remnants of the castle are not preserved in full height, it is easy to
conclude from the height preserved, that the walls were very high. This was partly due to the
strong inclination of the ground. Rectangular towers were interposed to strengthen the
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defense. However, it is worth mentioning that the towers were not in close order, because
their position was probably considered impregnable. For example, in the southeast part of
the inner enclosure only two rectangular towers existed, at a length of 460m. Traces of
entrances or small gates are not visible in general. Only the entrance to the outer enclosure is
claimed to be the traces of walls on the east part of it. Moreover, according to written
evidence and visual inspection, there were not any ditches in front of the walls.

Acropolis was strengthened with more towers. Visible archaeological remnants indicate
that there was one tower at each cormer and additionally one tower on its northwest walls,
the longest side of Acropolis (570m). Furthermore, the remnants of two buildings, possibly
towers, are distinguished attached to the southwest facade, one in the middle of and outside
the perimeter of Acropolis and one inside, closer to the west tower (plan 5). There is not
enough information whether these buildings belong to the same structural phase.
Archaeological research is necessary to certify these observations. Traces of wall, paralle! to
the west part of Acropolis and inside it, indicate that the wall in this area was double (figure
I, plan 5). A narrow corridor between the two walls existed, either for a kind of circulation
or for other unknown reasons. Laboratory test showed that these two walls belong to the
same structural phase. Traces of the entrance to Acropolis are not found. However, the
inclination of the ground, the whole arrangement of the castle and the demolished (missing)
parts of the walls of Acropolis show that it was probably at the southwest part, between the
south and the west tower. In addition, the traces of the towers attached to this facade, as
mentioned above, and the milder inclination of the ground indicate the position of the
entrance towards the west tower. The towers, traced so far all over the castle, are of a
rectangular form and only one is polygonal. It is possible that the circular towers, mentioned
in the bibliography, belong to earlier phases of the castle. More details are given below, in the
chapter of structural phases.

Towers and walls were stone masonry constructions. Dense use of bricks is observed
almost in most parts of the walls, positioned mainly horizontally and more seldom vertically,
in a random way, without decorative intention. Only on the two rectangular towers of
Acropolis decorative motives are distinguished. The walls were built, according to visual
inspection, with strong lime mortar, where small pebbles were added. Although exposed to
adverse weather conditions for centuries, mortars preserve their coherence and hardness.
Masonry was strengthened with horizontal timber beams positioned at different heights. Most
of them were invisible on the face of the wall, hidden behind a stone layer and they were
usually three at each layer.

4. ARCHITECTURAL SURVEY'

Architectural survey was based on land surveying plans and tape measurements on site.
Land surveying plans’ contained a dense network of altitudinal carves of the ground (Im).
Using the information of these plans, the profile of the ground, close to each facade of the
walls, together with the exact position of the facade were drawn and they were used as the
terminal for the tape measurements.

|. The collaboration with the |1th Ephorate of Byzantine Antiquities was very important at this stage.
The architectural drawings were carried out by S. Kakayianni and M. Saskalidou, under the
supervision of KI. Theologidou.

2. These plans were kindly offered by the Municipality of Servia.

figure 4: The massive tower of Acropolis.
The lower part belongs to the first phase
and the upper to the second.

figure 5: Northwest rectangular tower.
Detail of brick decoration.



Restoration and use of the early medieval fortifications in the east Mediterranean countries

Plan 2: Massive tower of Acropolis and
part of the inner enclosure.

Plan 3: Northwest rectangular tower of
Acropolis and part of the walls.

Plan 4: South part of the inner enclosure.

Detailed tape measurements were taken on site. They included measurements of the
height of the walls at different positions, so that the exact skyfine of the preserved walls
would be recorded. Additional measurements were taken of the position of characteristic
elements of the masonry, such as the borders of different construction techniques, the
position of decorative elements or timber ties, the position of building materials of a large
size and the characteristic damages. Furthermore, detailed photographs were taken in parallel
to the walls, where possible, which allowed for their development in scale. The deformations
at the borders of the pictures were faced with the measurements taken and additional
pictures with overlapping parts. These photographs were used for drawing the stone masonry
pretty accurately.

The ground plan has been drawn in a scale of 1:100. All fagades of the walls, internal
and external, have been drawn in a scale of 1:50 (plans 2, 3, 4).

»
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5. BUILDING PHASES

Full archaeological research is necessary, so that the building phases of the castle are
better defined. However, some observations, based on visual inspection and laboratory tests,
lead to some interesting remarks.

Three building phases are distinguished; the two of them are shown on plan 5. These
two phases shown on the plan have been noted due to different building techniques, different
mortar composition, as proved by chemical analysis, and in some cases, building joints. The
third phase observed is located to the upper parts of the rectangular towers of Acropolis and
was localized due to its different building technique. However, because of its unapproachable
position it was not easy to get samples for further chemical analysis. The broad dating of
these phases was possible because of their position on the structures and comparative work
to dated parts of the castle and from written evidence. More specifically, different building
phases are observed at:

. The polygonal massive tower of Acropolis, where two phases are noticed, one at its
lower parts and the other at the upper (figure 4, 19, 20, plan 6). The phase at the
base is obviously the earlier one. It appears that initially this tower was a round one,
not massive, as shown by its internal face, which continues underneath the later
construction (figure 6). It seems that later on, the massive part was constructed on
the ruins of the round tower. This massive part has a similar way of structure, with
stones and bricks all over, which shows that it has only one phase.

2. The northeast corner of Acropolis. A joint that separates the masonry in two parts,
parallel to its thickness, prove two different phases at this position, as well. It seems
that at this part the thickness of the walls was increased by building a second wall in
contact with the internal facade of the existing one (figure 8). This is proved by the
observation that the internal fagade of the outer part of the wall, which was revealed
due to its division from the inner wall, is formed as a visible face with stones and
horizontal bricks. On the contrary, the external fagade of the inner wall is flat due to
its contact with the external wall, without however having a formed face. Moreover,
traces on the ground prove the position of a building here, which could be a tower
(figure 9).

3. The northeast fagade of Acropolis. In the middle of this fagade there is a structure,
which seems to be a massive tower. Mortars from the core of the masonry have the
same composition with the first phase and mortars from the face have the same
composition with the second phase (plan 5).

4, Northwest part of Acropolis. It seems that all this part belongs to the first phase.
There are indications that a tower also existed at its north corner. There are also
indications that this part of the wall was double, with a narrow corridor between the
two walls, either for a kind of circulation or for other unknown reasons. Chemical
analysis proved that these two walls belong to the same structural phase.

5. West tower. At this tower three faces were recorded. According to chemical analysis,
the lower parts of this tower belong to the earlier phase, the same to the lower
parts of the massive tower while a little higher, some parts belong to the second
phase, The upper parts belong to the third phase (figure 22).

6. Southeast part - inner enclosure. [t appears that the outer face of the walls in this
area, most of which has collapsed, belong to the first phase and the inner face,
better preserved, belongs to the second. A joint on the demolished edge of these
walls between its outer and inner face support this argument (figures 10, 25).

Plan 5: Acropolis. Building phases.






